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Attorneys for Defendant   
GEORGIA-PACIFIC CORRUGATED LLC

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

JACOB SCHUMACHER, individually, 
and on behalf of other members of the 
general public similarly situated, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

GEORGIA-PACIFIC CORRUGATED 
LLC, a Delaware Company and DOES 
1 through 100, inclusive; 

Defendant. 

Case No. 2:19-cv-08632

DEFENDANT’S NOTICE OF 
REMOVAL OF CIVIL ACTION TO 
FEDERAL COURT PURSUANT TO 
28 U.S.C. §§ 1332, 1441, 1446 AND 
1453 

[Concurrently filed with Civil Cover 
Sheet; Certification of Interested Parties 
and Disclosure Statements; and 
Declarations of Melissa Gomes and Mark 
Berry] 

Complaint Filed: September 5, 2019 
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TO THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE CENTRAL 

DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, AND TO PLAINTIFF AND HER COUNSEL 

OF RECORD: 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE THAT defendant Georgia-Pacific Corrugated 

LLC (“Defendant”) removes this action from the Superior Court of the State of 

California for the County of Los Angeles, to the United States District Court for the 

Central District of California pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332, 1441, 1446, and 1453.  

As discussed below, this Court has original jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 

the Class Action Fairness Act (“CAFA”). 

I. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND AND TIMELINESS OF REMOVAL 

1. On or about September 9, 2019, Plaintiff Jacob Schumacher 

(“Plaintiff”) filed his Class Action Complaint for Damages (“Complaint”) in the 

Superior Court of the State of California, County of Los Angeles, entitled 

Schumacher v. Georgia-Pacific Corrugated LLC, which was assigned case number 

19STCV31420 (the “State Court Action”).   

2. A true and correct copy of the Complaint is attached as Exhibit A to 

this Notice of Removal.  The Complaint alleges six causes of action:  (1)Violation of 

California Labor Code §§ 510, 1194 and 1198 (Unpaid Overtime); (2) Violation of 

California Labor Code §§ 226.7 and 512(a) (Unpaid Meal Period Premiums); (3) 

Violation of California Labor Code § 226.7 (Unpaid Rest Period Premiums); (4) 

Violation of California Labor Code §§ 201 and 202 (Final Wages Not Timely Paid); 

(5) Violation of California Labor Code § 226(a) (Non-Compliant Wage Statements); 

(6) Violation of California Business & Professions Code § 17200, et seq.  True and 

correct copies of the Civil Case Cover Sheet and the Civil Case Cover Sheet 

Addendum filed by Plaintiff are attached hereto as Exhibits B and C. 

3. On September 6, 2019, Plaintiff served Defendant with a copy of the 

Complaint, as well as other documents filed in the State Court Action.  A true and 

correct copy of the Summons is attached hereto as Exhibit D. A true and correct 
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copy of the Notice of Case Assignment Unlimited Civil Case is attached hereto as 

Exhibit E.  A true and correct copy of the other documents served by Plaintiff with 

the Complaint and Summons is attached hereto as Exhibit F.  On September 13, 

2019, Plaintiff filed a Proof of Service of Summons, a true and correct copy of which 

is attached hereto as Exhibit G. 

4. On September 16, 2019, Plaintiff filed a Notice of Initial Status 

Conference and Court Order.  A true and correct copy of the Notice is attached 

hereto as Exhibit H. 

5. On October 3, 2019, Plaintiff filed an Initial Case Conference Class 

Action Statement and a Notice of Posting Jury Fees.  A true and correct copy of the 

Statement is attached hereto as Exhibit I.  A true and correct copy of the Notice is 

attached hereto as Exhibit J. 

6. On October 7, 2019, Defendant filed an Answer to Plaintiff Jacob 

Schumacher’s Class Action Complaint for Damages in Los Angeles Superior Court.  

A true and correct copy of the answer is attached hereto as Exhibit K. 

7. Plaintiff has not yet identified any of the fictitious “Doe” defendants 

identified in the Complaint and the citizenship of “Doe” defendants is disregarded 

for the purposes of removal.  28 U.S.C. § 1441(a); McCabe v. Gen. Foods Corp., 811 

F.2d 1336, 1339 (9th Cir. 1987). 

8. A defendant in a civil action has thirty (30) days from the date it is 

served with a summons and complaint in which to remove the action to federal court.  

28 U.S.C. § 1446(b); Murphy Bros., Inc. v. Michetti Pipe Stringing, Inc., 526 U.S. 

344, 347-48 (1999).  As Defendant’s registered agent for service of process were 

served with the summons and Complaint on September 6, 2019, this Notice of 

Removal is timely.  28 U.S.C. § 1446(b), see Fed. R. Civ. P. 6(a)(1)(C); Fleming v. 

United Teachers Assocs. Ins. Co., 250 F. Supp. 2d 658, 661 (S.D. W.Va. 2003) 

(removal petition was timely where 30th day after service fell on Thanksgiving and 

removal petition was filed the following day); Johnson v. Harper, 66 F.R.D. 103 
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(E.D. Tenn. 1975) (removal was timely where 30th day after service fell on a 

Saturday and removal was filed the following Monday).  

II. JURISDICTION UNDER THE CLASS ACTION FAIRNESS ACT 

9. This action is one over which this Court has original jurisdiction under 

CAFA and is one which may be removed by Defendant pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 1441 and 1453, because the number of potential class members exceeds 100, the 

parties are citizens of different states, and the amount in controversy exceeds the 

aggregate value of $5,000,000.  See 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d)(2) and (d)(6).1

A. The Size of the Putative Class Exceeds 100 Members 

10. In her Complaint, Plaintiff defines the proposed class as follows:  “All 

current and former California-based (i.e., currently ‘residing’ in California with the 

intent to remain in California indefinitely) hourly-paid or non-exempt employed by 

Defendants within the State of California at any time during the period from four 

years preceding the filing of this Complaint to final judgment.”  Ex. A, ¶ 13. 

11. Defendant’s employment records show that there are over eleven 

hundred current and former employees of Defendant who fall within Plaintiff’s 

proposed class.  Declaration of Melissa Gomes (“Gomes Decl.”), ¶ 4. 

12. Accordingly, the CAFA numerosity requirement is fulfilled because 

there are more than 100 class members implicated in Plaintiff’s Complaint.  28 

U.S.C. § 1332(d).   

B. The Diversity of Citizenship Requirement is Satisfied 

13. The minimal diversity requirement of 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d) is met in this 

action because the Court need only find that there is diversity between one putative 

class member and one defendant.  28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d)(2), 1332(d)(5)(B), 1453(a).   

14. Citizenship of Defendant.  Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(10), “an 

1 Defendant is the only named defendant in this matter and, thus, there are no other defendants to 
consent to removal.  Furthermore, an action may be removed by a single defendant under CAFA 
without the consent of the other defendants.  See 28 U.S.C. § 1453(a). 
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unincorporated association shall be deemed to be a citizen of the State where it has 

its principal place of business and the State under whose laws it is organized.”  A 

company’s headquarters is presumptively the location of its “principal place of 

business . . . .”  Hertz v. Friend, 559 U.S. 77, 78 (2010) (“[I]n practice [a company’s 

principal place of business] should normally be the place where the corporation 

maintains its headquarters—provided that the headquarters is the actual center of 

direction, control and coordination, i.e., the ‘nerve center’ . . . .”). 

15. At all times on or after the date this action was filed, Defendant has 

been a citizen of the states of Delaware and Georgia.  Defendant has its principal 

place of business in Atlanta, Georgia, as that is the location of its headquarters from 

which its officers direct, coordinate, and control its business operations.  Berry Decl., 

¶ 3; Gomes Decl., ¶ 9.  Defendant is a limited liability company organized under the 

laws of the State of Delaware.  Berry Decl., ¶ 3. 

16. Citizenship of Plaintiff.  For diversity purposes, an individual is a 

“citizen” of the state in which he is domiciled.  Kantor v. Wellesley Galleries, Ltd., 

704 F.2d 1088, 1090 (9th Cir. 1983).  An individual’s domicile is the place he 

resides with the intention to remain or to which he intends to return.  Kanter v. 

Warner-Lambert Co., 265 F.3d 853, 857 (9th Cir. 2001). 

17. The Complaint alleges that “Plaintiff JACOB SCHUMACHER is an 

individual residing in the State of California” and that “Defendants employed 

Plaintiff within the State of California.”  Ex. A at ¶ 4, 5.  The Complaint also alleges 

that he is a member of a “California-based” class, which is defined as “current and 

former employees . . . currently ‘residing’ in California with the intent to remain in 

California indefinitely.’ ”  Ex. A at ¶ 13 (emphasis added).  Likewise, Defendant’s 

employment records confirm that throughout his employment with Defendant, 

Plaintiff provided a California home address.  Gomes Decl., ¶ 8.  Thus, Plaintiff is a 

citizen of the State of California and domiciled in California. 

18. Members of the proposed class, who by definition are or were employed 
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in California, are presumed to be primarily citizens of the State of California.  See, 

e.g., Lew v. Moss, 797 F.2d 747, 750 (9th Cir. 1986) (“place of employment” an 

important factor weighing in favor of citizenship).  Thus, even if Plaintiff were 

somehow a citizen of Georgia or Delaware (and there is no evidence that he is), there 

is no possible way that the hundreds of putative class members, all of whom worked 

in California (Ex. A, ¶ 13), were also citizens of Georgia or Delaware. 

19. Accordingly, the minimal diversity requirement of 28 U.S.C. 1332(d) is 

met in this action because Defendant is a citizen of Delaware and Georgia while 

Plaintiff, a putative class member, is a citizen of California.   

C. The Amount in Controversy Exceeds an Aggregate of $5,000,000 

20. Plaintiff has not alleged a specific amount in controversy in the 

Complaint.  In order to remove a class action pursuant to CAFA, the amount in 

controversy must exceed $5,000,000, and it is the removing party’s burden to 

establish, “by a preponderance of evidence, that the aggregate amount in controversy 

exceeds the jurisdictional minimum.”  Rodriguez v. AT&T Mobility Servs. LLC, 728 

F.3d 975, 981 (9th Cir. 2013).  To do so, the removing defendant must “produce 

underlying facts showing only that it is more likely than not that the amount in 

controversy exceeds $5,000,000.00, assuming the truth of the allegations plead in the 

Complaint.”  Muniz v. Pilot Travel Ctrs. LLC, No. 2007 WL 1302504, at *5 (E.D. 

Cal. May 1, 2007) (emphasis in original).   

21. In considering the evidence submitted by the removing defendant, the 

Court must “look beyond the complaint to determine whether the putative class 

action meets the [amount in controversy] requirements” adding “the potential claims 

of the absent class members” and attorneys’ fees.  Rodriguez, 728 F.3d at 981 (citing 

Standard Fire Ins. Co. v. Knowles, 133 S.Ct. 1345 (2013)); Guglielmino v. McKee 

Foods Corp., 506 F.3d 696, 705 (9th Cir. 2007).  Furthermore, “[i]n considering 

whether the amount in controversy is clear from the face of the complaint, a court 

must assume that the allegations of the complaint are true and that a jury will return a 
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verdict for the plaintiff on all claims made in the complaint.”  Altamirano v. Shaw 

Indus., Inc., 2013 WL 2950600, at *4 (N.D. Cal. June 14, 2013) (citing Korn v. Polo 

Ralph Lauren Corp., 536 F. Supp. 2d 1199, 1205 (E.D. Cal. 2008)); see also Muniz, 

2007 WL 1302504, at *3.  

22. While Defendant denies the validity of Plaintiff’s claims and requests 

for relief, and does not concede in any way that the allegations in the Complaint are 

accurate, that Plaintiff’s claims are amenable to classwide treatment, or that Plaintiff 

or the purported class are entitled to any of the requested relief, the allegations in the 

Complaint show it is more likely than not that the amount in controversy exceeds the 

jurisdictional minimum.  See Guglielmino, 506 F.3d at 700. 

23. In determining the amount in controversy to support its Notice of 

Removal, Defendant relies here on a conservative estimate of the amount in 

controversy based on damages and attorneys’ fees sought by Plaintiff as a result of 

the alleged:  (1) unpaid meal and rest break premiums (2) failure to timely pay all 

wages owed upon termination; and (3) failure to provide accurate wage statements.   

1. The Amount Placed in Controversy by Plaintiff’s Meal and Rest 
Break Claims Exceeds $5,100,000 

24. In his Second Cause of Action, Plaintiff alleges “[a]s a pattern and 

practice . . . Defendants intentionally and willfully required Plaintiff and other class 

members to work during their meal periods and failed to compensate Plaintiff and 

the other class members the full meal period premium for work performed during 

meal periods.”  Ex. A, ¶ 56.  In his Third Cause of Action, Plaintiff alleges “[a]s a 

pattern and practice . . . Defendants intentionally and willfully required Plaintiff and 

other class members to work during rest periods and failed to compensate Plaintiff 

and the other class members the full rest period premium for work performed during 

meal periods.”  Ex. A, ¶ 65.   

25. Under California law, employees who miss meal and rest periods are 

entitled to one hour of premium pay for each day that a meal or a rest period is 
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missed.  See Marlo v. United Parcel Serv., Inc., 2009 WL 1258491, at *7 (C.D. Cal. 

May 5, 2009).  Meal and rest period claims are properly considered in determining 

the amount in controversy.  See, e.g., Muniz, 2007 WL 1302504, at *4; Helm v. 

Alderwoods Grp., Inc., 008 WL 2002511, at *8 (N.D. Cal. May 7, 2008).  Plaintiff 

also alleges that the failure to pay meal and rest break premiums constitutes unfair 

competition within the meaning of the UCL (Ex. A, ¶ 85) and therefore applicable 

statute of limitations for the meal and rest break claims is four years.  Bus. & Prof. 

Code § 17208 (“Any action to enforce any cause of action pursuant to this chapter 

shall be commenced within four years after the cause of action accrued”); Cortez v. 

Purolator Air Filtration Prods. Co., 23 Cal. 4th 163, 178-179 (2000) (the four-year 

statute of limitations applies to any UCL claim, notwithstanding that the underlying 

claims have shorter statutes of limitation). 

26. Based on Defendant’s records, the minimum number of putative class 

members is 1,143 and they worked approximately 114,740 workweeks.  Gomes 

Decl., ¶ 4.  The average hourly rate of the putative class members was $22.59.  Id. at 

¶ 5.   

27. Defendant’s calculation of the amount in controversy for Plaintiff’s 

meal and rest break claims is $5,183,953.20 (($22.59 rest period penalty + $22.59 

meal period penalty) x 114,740 workweeks).  The computation of the amount in 

controversy is based on conservative estimates that the 1,143 putative class members 

worked at least 114,740 workweeks between September 5, 2019, and the present, 

that the average putative class member earned an hourly rate of $22.59, and that each 

putative class member incurred one meal break penalty and one rest break penalty 

for every week of work.  Gomes Decl., ¶¶ 4, 5.  The foregoing calculation assumes a 

violation rate of 20% per workweek, which is generally accepted as a reasonable 

conservative assumption when calculation the amount in controversy for CAFA 

purposes.  See, e.g., Mendoza v. Savage Servs. Corp., 2019 WL 1260629, at *2 (C.D. 

Cal. Mar. 19, 2019) (holding in a case involving the same Plaintiff’s counsel that 
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“courts in [the Central District] routinely apply a 20% violation rate—that is, one 

missed mean and rest period per work week—for meal and rest period premiums”); 

Mortley v. Express Pipe & Supply Co., 2018 WL 708115, at *4 (C.D. Cal. Feb. 5, 

2018) (finding defendants assumption that class members missed two meal periods 

and two rest periods each per week based on allegations of “a company-wide policy 

and/or practice of understaffing” was reasonable); Stanley v. Distribution Alts., Inc., 

2017 WL 6209822, at *2 (C.D. Cal. Dec. 7, 2017) (accepting assumed violation rates 

of “three missed rest breaks, and three missed meal breaks per week” where the 

complaint offered no guidance as to the frequency of the alleged violations); Alvarez 

v. Office Depot, Inc., 2017 WL 5952181, at *3 (C.D. Cal. Nov. 30, 2017) (finding 

60% violation rate reasonable where the complaint “alleges a uniform practice of 

meal and rest period violations.”); Francisco v. Emeritus Corp., 2017 WL 2541401, 

at *6 (C.D. Cal. June 12, 2017) (finding defendants’ estimation of one violation per 

work week for both meal and rest breaks reasonable and conservative because 

plaintiff alleged violations occurred as “a pattern and practice”); Byrd v. Masonite 

Corp., 2016 WL 2593912, at *5 (C.D. Cal. May 5, 2016) (court found defendant’s 

assumption that each putative class member missed one meal break and one rest 

period per workweek based on policy and practice allegations reasonable).

2. The Amount Placed in Controversy by Plaintiff’s Waiting Time 
Penalty Claim Exceeds $2,000,000 

28. In his Fourth Cause of Action, Plaintiff alleges that Defendant has a 

“pattern and practice of failing to pay Plaintiff and other class members . . . who are 

no longer employed by Defendants their wages, earned and unpaid, within seventy-

two (72) hours of their leaving Defendants’ employ, . . . in violation of California 

Labor Code sections 201 and 202.”  Ex. A, ¶ 72.  Plaintiff alleges that, as a result, 

“Plaintiff and other class members are entitled to recover from Defendants the 

statutory penalty wages for each day they were not paid, up to thirty (30) day 

maximum was provided by Labor Code section 203.”  Ex. A, ¶ 74.   
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29. Section 203 penalties “accrue not only on the days that the employee 

might have worked, but also on nonworkdays,” for up to 30 days, and the accrual of 

these penalties “has nothing to do with the number of days an employee works 

during the month.”  Mamika v. Barca, 68 Cal. App. 4th 487, 492-93 (1998).  As the 

“targeted wrong” addressed by Section 203 is “the delay in payment” of wages, that 

wrong “continues so long as payment is not made”; therefore, “[a] proper reading of 

section 203 mandates a penalty equivalent to the employee’s daily wages for each 

day he or she remained unpaid up to a total of 30 days.”  Id. at 493. 

30. Based on Defendant’s records, the approximate number of putative class 

members who were terminated in the three years before the filing of the Complaint is 

383 and the average rate of pay for the putative class was $22.59.  Gomes Decl., ¶¶ 

5-6.   

31. Defendant’s calculation of the amount in controversy for Plaintiff’s 

waiting time penalty claim is $2,076,472.80 (384 terminated class members x $22.59 

average hourly rate x 8 hours per day x 30 days).  The computation of the amount in 

controversy is based on conservative estimate that each one of the 384 terminated 

class members was owed but not paid at least some of their wages at termination and 

accrued 30 days of waiting time penalties based on those unpaid wages.  This is a 

reasonable assumption because Plaintiff’s section 203 claim is not premised only on 

the theory that Defendant failed to timely deliver final paychecks to terminated 

employees.  Rather, Plaintiff contends that Defendant owes penalties at least in part 

as a result of its “pattern and practice of wage abuse,” including its purported failure 

to pay all wages owed during their employment, “including overtime and minimum 

wages and meal and rest period premiums, and they did not, in fact, receive such 

wages owed to them at the time of their discharge or resignation.”  Ex. A, ¶¶ 24, 29.  

In light of the fact that, through his Complaint, Plaintiff is also seeking to recover 

alleged unpaid overtime wages allegedly owed, it is clear that Plaintiff’s theory is 

that such alleged unpaid wages still have not been paid to Plaintiff and putative class 
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members.  It is therefore reasonable to calculate the amount in controversy for this 

claim based on a 30-day penalty calculated at each former employee’s daily wage 

rate.  See Quintana v. Claire’s Stores, Inc., 2013 WL 1736671, at *6 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 

22, 2013) (finding that the defendants’ waiting time penalties calculation was 

“supported by Plaintiffs’ allegations” and was “a reasonable estimate of the potential 

value of the claims” where the complaint alleged that the defendants “‘regularly 

required’” putative class members to work off-the-clock without compensation, and 

the defendants estimated that each putative class member “potentially suffered at 

least one violation that continues to be unpaid”); Stevenson v. Dollar Tree Stores, 

Inc., 2011 WL 4928753, at *4 (E.D. Cal. Oct. 17, 2011) (finding it reasonable for the 

defendant to assume, in light of the allegations in the complaint that members of the 

putative class “‘routinely’” missed meal periods, that “all members of the proposed 

class . . . would have missed a meal period as described in the complaint at least once 

and were thus entitled to the waiting time penalty”). 

3. The Amount Placed in Controversy by the Wage Statement Claim 
Exceeds $1,400,000 

32. In his Fifth Cause of Action, Plaintiff alleges that “Defendants have 

intentionally and willfully failed to provide Plaintiff and other class members . . . 

with complete and accurate wage statements.  The deficiencies include but are not 

limited to:  the failure to include the total number of hours worked by Plaintiff and 

other class members.”  Ex. A, ¶ 77. 

33. Plaintiff asserts that as a result of Defendant’s alleged failure to provide 

wage statements in compliance with California law, they and the putative class 

members are due the greater of their actual damages caused by Defendant’s failure to 

comply with California Labor Code section 226(a), or an aggregate penalty not 

exceeding four thousand dollars per employee.”  Ex. A, ¶ 80.   

34. The statute of limitations for a claim for wage statement penalties under 

Labor Code Section 226(e) is one year.  Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 340(a).   
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35. Defendant’s calculation of the amount in controversy for Plaintiff’s 

claim for non-compliant wage statements is $1,413,850.  The computation of the 

amount in controversy is based on conservative estimates that Defendant issued at 

least 14,497 wage statements to 717 putative class members between September 5, 

2018, and the present, and that there was one violation for each putative class 

member per pay period for which the employee was issued a paycheck during that 

statute of limitations period, that the penalty for the first wage statement violation for 

each putative class member is $50, that the penalty for subsequent wage statement 

violations for each class member is $100, and that the aggregate penalty for each 

class putative class member does not exceed $4,000.  Gomes Decl., ¶ 7.   

36. An estimate of one wage statement violation for every pay period is 

reasonable, as the Complaint alleges that “[a]s a pattern and practice, Defendants” 

fail to provide accurate wage statements.  Ex. A, ¶ 77. 

37. In Altamirano v. Shaw Industries, Inc., 2013 WL 2950600, *11 (N.D. 

Cal. June 14, 2013), the district court held that it was “reasonable to assume that 

each putative class member suffered at least one violation during any given pay 

period, resulting in an inaccurate wage statement,” in light of the plaintiff’s 

allegations “about the pervasiveness of the policies that are the subject of the first 

three causes of actions” for failure to pay minimum wages, failure to pay overtime 

wages, and failure to provide meal periods.  Moreover, given Plaintiff’s allegations 

that the putative class members were not properly compensated overtime, or meal 

and rest break premiums on “as a pattern and practice,” it is reasonable to assume 

that Plaintiff’s claim that each putative class members suffered at least one wage 

statement violation during any given pay period.  Thus, “it is reasonable to assume a 

100% violation rate in calculating the amount in controversy for this cause of 

action.”  Id. 

4. Attorneys’ Fees

38. Plaintiff seeks to recover attorneys’ fees on behalf of the putative class.  
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Ex. A, ¶¶ 48, 88; Prayer for Relief ¶ 8, 15, 36.  Defendant denies that Plaintiff is 

entitled to recovery any attorneys’ fees; however, attorneys’ fees may properly be 

included in determining the amount in controversy.  See, e.g., Lowdermilk v. US 

Bank Nat’l Assoc., 479 F.3d 994, 1000 (9th Cir. 2007) (holding that statutorily-

mandated attorneys’ fees are properly included in the amount in controversy for 

CAFA jurisdiction purposes). 

39. For class actions, 25% of the common fund is a benchmark rate for 

attorney’s fees in this Circuit.  Hanlon v. Chrysler Corp., 150 F.3d 1011, 1029 (9th 

Cir. 1998) (“This circuit has established 25% of the common fund as a benchmark 

award for attorney fees”); see also Giannini v. Northwestern Mut. Life Ins. Co., 2012 

WL 1535196, at *4 (N.D. Cal. 2012) (holding that defendant’s inclusion of 

attorneys’ fees to satisfy amount in controversy was reasonable where defendants 

“base this amount by multiplying by twenty-five percent the sum of the amounts 

placed in controversy by the four claims” asserted by plaintiff.). 

40. Twenty-five percent of the total potential award for just the limited 

claims outlined above is $2,168,590.00. 

5. Summary of the Amount Placed In Controversy 

41. As described above, a reasonable and conservative estimate of the 

amount placed in controversy by Plaintiff’s claims for unpaid overtime, meal break 

premiums, rest break premiums, waiting time penalties and wage statement penalties 

exceeds $5,000,000. 

Claim Amount in 

Controversy 

Meal Break Claim $2,591,976.60 

Rest Break Claim $2,591,976.60 

Waiting Time Penalty Claim $2,076,472.80 

Wage Statement Claim $1,413,850.00 
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Attorneys’ Fees $2,168,569.00

Total $10,842,845.00 

42. Consequently, the amount placed in controversy by Plaintiff’s claims 

exceeds the $5,000,000 jurisdictional threshold of 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d). 

III. THE PROCEDURAL REQUIREMENTS OF 28 U.S.C. § 1146 ARE 
SATISFIED 

43. In accordance with 28 U.S.C. §1446(a), this Notice of Removal is filed 

in the District in which the action is pending.  The Los Angeles County Superior 

Court is located within the Central District of California.  Therefore, venue is proper 

in this Court because it is the “district and division embracing the place where such 

action is pending.”  28 U.S.C. § 1441(a). 

44. In accordance with 28 U.S.C. §1446(a), copies of all process, pleadings, 

and orders served upon Defendant are attached as Exhibits to this Notice. 

45. In accordance with 28 U.S.C. §1446(d), a copy of this Notice is being 

served upon counsel for Plaintiff, and a notice will be filed with the Clerk of the 

Superior Court of California for the County of Los Angeles.  Notice of compliance 

shall be filed promptly afterwards with this Court. 

46. As required by Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 7.1 and Local Rule 7.1-

1, Defendant concurrently filed its Certificate of Interested Parties. 

WHEREFORE, Defendant removes the above-captioned action to the United 

States District Court for the Central District of California. 

DATED:  October 7, 2019 OGLETREE, DEAKINS, NASH, SMOAK 
& STEWART, P.C. 

By:  /s/ Sarah Zenewicz
Evan R. Moses 
Sarah Zenewicz 

Attorneys for Defendant 
GEORGIA-PACIFIC CORRUGATED LLC
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JACOB SCHUMACHER, individually, and 
on behalf of other members of the general 
public similarly situated; 

Plaintiff, 

- v. 

GEORGIA-PACIFIC CORRUGATED LLC, 
a Delaware Company; and DOES I through 
100, inclusive; 

Defendants. 

DOUGLAS HAN (SBN 232858) 
SHUNT TATAVOS-GHARAJEH (SBN 272164) 
DANIEL J. PARK (SBN 274973) 
AREEN BABAJANIAN (SBN 583307) 
JUSTICE LAW CORPORATION 
751 North Fair Oaks Avenue, Suite 101 
Pasadena, California 91103 
Telephone (818) 230-7502 
Facsimile (818) 230-7502 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 

CONORMED COPY 
OORIGINALFILED 

Superior Court of California 

SEP 0.5 2019 

Shtrri Ft. • ter, to ullictrICIttlt of Court 

By 
, Deputy 

;feu,. drew 

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 

Case No.: 19STCV31420 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR 
DAMAGES 

(I) Violation of California Labor Code - 
§§ 510, 1194, and 1198 (Unpaid 
Overtime); 

(2) Violation of California Labor Code 
§§ 226.7 and 512(a) (Unpaid Meal 
Period Premiums); 
Violation of California Labor Code 
§ 226.7 (Unpaid Rest Period 
Premiums); 

(4) Violation of California. Labor.Code _ _ 
§§ 201 and 202 (Final Wages Not 
Timely Paid); 

(5) Violation of California Labor Code 
§ 226(a) (Non-Compliant Wage 
Statements); 

(6) Violation of California Business & 
Professions Code § 17200, et seq. 

(3) 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

By Fax 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES 
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EXH. A -1
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COMES NOW, Plaintiff JACOB SCHUMACHER ("Plaintiff'), individually, and on 

behalf of other members of the general public similarly situated, and alleges as follows: 

. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. This class action is brought pursuant to the California Code of Civil Procedure 

section 382. The monetary damages and restitution sought by Plaintiff exceeds the minimal 

jurisdiction limits of the Superior Court and will be established according to proof at trial. The 

"amount in controversy" for the named Plaintiff, including claims for compensatory damages, 

restitution, penalties, wages, premium pay, and pro rata share of attorneys' fees, is less than 

seventy-five thousand dollars ($75,000). 

2. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to the California 

Constitution, Article VI, Section 10, which grants the superior court "original jurisdiction in all 

other causes" except those given by statute to other courts. The statutes under which this 

action is brought do not specify any other basis for jurisdiction. 

3. This Court has jurisdiction over Defendants because, upon information and 

belief, Defendants are citizens of California, have sufficient minimum contacts in California, 

or otherwise intentionally avail themselves of the California market so as to render the exercise 

of jurisdiction over them by the California courts consistent with traditional notions of fair play 

and substantial justice. 

4. Venue is proper in this Court because, upon information and belief, _Defendants 
- - 

maintain offices, have agents, and/or transact business in the State of California, including the 

County of Los Angeles. The majority of the acts and omissions alleged herein relating to 

Plaintiff took place in the State of California. Defendants employed Plaintiff within the State of 

California. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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PARTIES 

5. Plaintiff JACOB SCHUMACHER is an individual residing in the State of 

California 

6. Defendant GEORGIA-PACIFIC CORRUGATED LLC, at all times herein 

mentioned, was and is, upon infonhation and belief, a Delaware company, and at all times 

herein mentioned, was and is, an employer whose employees are engaged throughout the State 

of California, including the County of Los Angeles. 

7. At all relevant times, Defendant GEORGIA-PACIFIC CORRUGATED LLC 

was the "employer" of Plaintiff within the meaning of all applicable California laws and 

statutes. 

8. At all times herein relevant, Defendants GEORGIA-PACIFIC CORRUGATED 

LLC and DOES 1 through 100, and each of them, were the agents, partners, joint venturers, 

joint employers, representatives, servants, employees, successors-in-interest, co-conspirators 

and assigns, each of the other, and at all times relevant hereto were acting within the course 

and scope of their authority as such agents, partners, joint venturers, joint employers, 

representatives, servants, employees, successors, co-conspirators and assigns, and all acts or 

omissions alleged herein were duly committed with the ratification, knowledge, permission, 

encouragement, authorization, and consent of each defendant designated herein. 

9. The true names and capacities, whether corporate, associate, _individual or 

otherwise, of Defendants DOES 1 through 100, inclusive, are unknown to Plaintiff, who sues 

said defendants by such fictitious names. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based on that 

information and belief alleges, that each of the Defendants designated as a DOE is legally 

responsible for the events and happenings referred to in this Complaint, and unlawfully caused 

the injuries and damages to Plaintiff and the other class members as alleged in this Complaint. 

Plaintiff will seek leave of court to amend this Complaint to show the true names and 

capacities when the same have been ascertained. 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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10. Defendants GEORGIA-PACIFIC CORRUGATED LLC and DOES 1 through 

100 will hereinafter collectively be referred to as "Defendants." 

11. Plaintiff further alleges that Defendants directly or indirectly controlled or 

affected the working conditions, wages, working hours, and conditions of employment of 

Plaintiff and the other class members so as to make each of said Defendants employers and 

employers liable under the statutory provisions set forth herein. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

12. Plaintiff brings this action on his own behalf and on behalf of all other members 

of the general public similarly situated, and, thus, seeks class certification under Code of Civil 

Procedure section 382. 

13. The proposed class is defined as follows: 

All current and former California-based (i.e., currently "residing" in California 

with the intent to remain in California indefinitely) hourly-paid or non-exempt 

employees employed by Defendants within the State of California at any time 

during the period from four years preceding the filing of this Complaint to final 

judgment. 

14. Plaintiff reserves the right to establish subclasses as appropriate. 

15. The class is ascertainable and there is a well-defined community of interest in 

the litigation: 

a. Numerosity: The class members are so numerous that joinder of all class 

members is impracticable. The membership of the entire class is 

unknown to Plaintiff at this time; however, the class is estimated to be 

greater than fifty (50) individuals and the identity of such membership is 

readily ascertainable by inspection of Defendants' employment records. 

b. Typicality: Plaintiff's claims are typical of all' other class members' 

claims as demonstrated herein. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately 

protect the interests of the other class members with whom he has a well-

defined community of interest. 

4 
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c. Adequacy: Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of 

each class member, with whom he has a well-defined community of 

interest and typicality of claims, as demonstrated herein. Plaintiff has no 

interest that is antagonistic to the other class members. Plaintiff's 

attorneys, the proposed class counsel, are versed in the rules governing 

class action discovery, certification, and settlement. Plaintiff has 

incurred, and during the pendency of this action will continue to incur, 

costs and attorneys' fees, that have been, are, and will be necessarily 

expended for the prosecution of this action for the substantial benefit of 

each class member. 

d. Superiority: A class action is superior to other available methods for the 

fair and efficient adjudication of this litigation because individual joinder 

of all class members is impractical. 

e. Public Policy Considerations: Certification of this lawsuit as a class 

action will advance public policy objectives. Employers of this great 

state violate employment and labor laws every day. Current employees 

are often afraid to assert their rights out of fear of direct or indirect 

retaliation. However, class actions provide the class members who are 

not named in the complaint anonymity that allows_for_the_vindication-of 

their rights. 

16. There are common questions of law and fact as to the class members that 

predominate over questions affecting only individual members. The following common 

questions of law or fact, among others, exist as to the members of the class: 

a. Whether Defendants failed to pay their hourly-paid or non-exempt 

employees within the State of California for all hours worked, missed 

meal periods and rest breaks in violation of California law; 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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/ / / 

/ 

/ / / 

b. Whether Defendants required Plaintiff and the other class members to 

work over eight (8) hours per day and/or over forty (40) hours per week 

and failed to pay the legally required overtime compensation to Plaintiff 

and the other class members; 

c. Whether Defendants properly calculated the regular rate for Plaintiff and 

the other class members to worked overtime and earned incentive pay; 

d. Whether Defendants deprived Plaintiff and the other class members Of 

meal and/or rest periods or required Plaintiff and the other class 

members to work during meal and/or rest periods without compensation; 

e. Whether Defendants failed to pay all wages due to Plaintiff and the other 

class members within the required time upon their discharge or 

resignation; 

1. Whether Defendants failed to timely pay all wages due to Plaintiff and 

the other class members during their employment; 

Whether Defendants complied with wage reporting as required by the 

California Labor Code, including, inter alia, section 226; 

h. Whether Defendants' conduct was willful or reckless; 

1. Whether Defendants engaged in unfair business practices in violation of 

California Business & Professions_ Code section .17200, et seg.; _ . 

j. The appropriate amount of damages, restitution, and/or monetary 

penalties resulting from Defendants' violation of California law; and 

k. Whether Plaintiff and the other class members are entitled to 

compensatory damages pursuant to the California Labor Code. 

6 
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GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

17. During the relevant time period set forth herein, Defendants employed Plaintiff 

and other persons as hourly-paid or non-exempt employees within the State of California. 

18. Defendants, jointly and severally, employed Plaintiff as an hourly-paid, non-

exempt employee, from approximately March 2018 to May 2018 in the State of California. 

19. Defendants had the authority to hire and terminate Plaintiff and the other class 

members; to set work rules and conditions governing Plaintiff's and other class members' 

employment; and to supervise their daily employment activities. 

20. Defendants exercised sufficient authority over the terms and conditions of 

Plaintiff and the other class members' employment for them to be joint employers of Plaintiff 

and other class members. 

21. Defendants directly hired and paid wages and benefits to Plaintiff and the other 

class members. 

22. Defendants continue to employ hourly-paid or non-exempt employees within the 

State of California. 

23. • Plaintiff and other class members worked over eight (8) hours in a day, and/or 

forty (40) hours in a week during their employment with Defendants. • 

24. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants 

engaged in a pattern and practice of wage abuse against_their _hourly-paid-or—non-exempt 

employees within the State of California. This scheme involved, inter alia, failing to properly 

pay them for all hours worked, missed meal periods, and missed rest breaks in violation of 

California law. 

25. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants 

knew or should have known that Plaintiff and other class members were entitled to receive 

certain wages for overtime compensation and that they were not receiving proper wages for 

overtime compensation. 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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26. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants 

failed to provide Plaintiff and other class members the required rest and meal periods during 

the relevant time period as required under the Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Orders 

and thus they are entitled to any and all applicable penalties. 

27. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants 

knew or should have known that Plaintiff and other class members were entitled to receive all 

timely and complete meal periods or payment of one additional hour of pay at Plaintiff's and 

the other class members' regular rate of pay when a meal period was missed, late or 

interrupted, and they did not receive all timely and proper meal periods or payment of one 

additional hour of pay at Plaintiff's and other class members' regular rate of pay when a meal 

period was missed. 

28. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants 

knew or should have known that Plaintiff and other class members were entitled to receive all 

timely rest periods without interruption or payment of one additional hour of pay at Plaintiff 

and the other class members' regular rate of pay when a rest period was missed, late or 

interrupted, and they did not receive all rest periods or payment of one additional hour of pay 

at Plaintiff's and the other class members' regular rate of pay when a rest period was missed. 

29. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants 

knew or should have known that Plaintiff and other class members were entitled to receive the 
• 

wages owed to them upon discharge or resignation, including overtime and meal and rest 

period premiums, and they did not, in fact, receive such wages owed to them at the time of 

their discharge or resignation. • 

30. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants 

knew or should have known that Plaintiff and other class members were entitled to receive 

complete and accurate wage statements in accordance with California law, but, in fact, they did 

not receive complete and accurate wage statements from Defendants. The deficiencies 

included, inter alia, the failure to include the total number of hours worked by Plaintiff and 

other class members. 

8 
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31. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants 

knew or should have known that Defendants had to keep complete and accurate payroll records 

for Plaintiff and other class members in accordance with California law, but, in fact, did not 

keep complete and accurate payroll records. 

32. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants 

knew or should have known that they had a duty to compensate Plaintiff and other class 

members pursuant to California law, and that Defendants had the financial ability to pay such 

compensation, but willfully, knowingly, and intentionally failed to do so, and falsely 

represented to Plaintiff and other class members that they were properly denied wages, all in 

order to increase Defendants' profits. 

33. As a pattern and practice, during the relevant time period set forth herein, 

Defendants failed to pay overtime wages to Plaintiff and other class members for all hours 

worked. Plaintiff and other class members were required to work more than eight (8) hours per 

day and/or forty (40) hours per week without overtime compensation. 

34. As a pattern and practice, during the relevant time period set forth herein, 

Defendants failed to provide the requisite uninterrupted and timely meal and rest periods to 

Plaintiff and other class members. 

35. As a pattern and practice, during the relevant time period set forth herein, 

Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and other class_ members _the-wages owed- to them upon _ 

discharge or resignation. 

36. As a pattern and practice, during the relevant time period set forth herein, 

Defendants failed to provide complete or accurate wage statements to Plaintiff and other class 

members. 

37. As a pattern and practice, during the relevant time period set forth herein, 

Defendants failed to keep complete or accurate payroll records for Plaintiff and other class 

members. 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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38. As a pattern and practice, during the relevant time period set forth herein, 

Defendants failed to properly compensate Plaintiff and other class members pursuant to 

California law in order to increase Defendants' profits. 

39. California Labor Code section 218 states that nothing in Article 1 of the Labor 

Code shall limit the right of any wage claimant to "sue directly . . . for any wages or penalty 

due to him [or her] under this article." 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of California Labor Code §§ 510, 1194, and 1198) 

(Against GEORGIA-PACIFIC CORRUGATED LLC and DOES 1 through 100) 

40. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 

through 39, and each and every part thereof with the same force and effect as though fully set 

forth herein. 

41. California Labor Code section 1198 and the applicable Industrial Welfare 

Commission ("IWC") Wage Order provide that it is unlawful to employ persons without 

compensating them at a rate of pay either time-and-one-half or two-times that person's regular 

rate of pay, depending on the number of hours worked by the person on a daily or weekly 

basis. 

42. Specifically, the applicable IWC Wage Order provides that Defendants are and 

were required to pay Plaintiff and other class members, employed by Defendants,-who . _ 

work(ed) more than eight (8) hours in a day or more than forty (40) hours in a workweek, at 

the rate of time-and-one-half for all hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours in a day or more 

than forty (40) hours in a workweek. 

43. The applicable IWC Wage Order further provides that Defendants are and were 

required to pay Plaintiff and other class members overtime compensation at a rate of two times 

their regular rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of twelve (12) hours in a day. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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44. California Labor Code section 510 codifies the right to overtime compensation 

at one-and-one-half times the regular hourly rate for hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours 

in a day or forty (40) hours in a week or for the first eight (8) hours worked on the seventh day 

of work, and overtime compensation at twice the regular hourly rate for hours worked in 

excess of twelve (12) hours in a day or in excess of eight (8) hours in a day on the seventh day 

of work. 

45. During the relevant time period set forth herein, Plaintiff and other class 

members worked in excess of eight (8) hours in a day, and/or in excess of forty (40) hours in a 

week. 

46. As a pattern and practice, during the relevant time period set forth herein, 

Defendants intentionally and willfully failed to pay overtime wages owed to Plaintiff and other 

class members. 

47. Defendants' pattern and practice of failing to pay Plaintiff and other class 

members the unpaid balance of overtime compensation, as required by California_laws, 

violates the provisions of California Labor Code sections 510 and 1198, and is therefore 

unlawful. 

48. Pursuant to California Labor Code section 1194, Plaintiff and other class 

members are entitled to recover unpaid overtime compensation, as well as interest, costs, and 

attorneys' fees. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of California Labor Code §§ 226.7 and 512(a)) 

(Against GEORGIA-PACIFIC CORRUGATED LLC and DOES 1 through 100) 

49. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 

1 through 48, and each and every part thereof with the same force and effect as though fully set 

forth herein. 

50. During the relevant time period set forth herein, the IWC Order and California 

Labor Code sections 226.7 and 512(a) were applicable to Plaintiff's and other class members' 

employment by Defendants. 

51. During the relevant time period set forth herein, California Labor Code section 

226.7 provides that no employer shall require an employee to work during any meal or rest 

period mandated by an applicable order of the California IWC. 

52. During the relevant time period set forth herein, the applicable IWC Wage 

Order and California Labor Code section 512(a) provide that an employer may not require, 

cause or permit an employee to work for a work period of more than five (5) hours per day 

without providing the employee with a meal period of not less than thirty (30) minutes, except 

that if the total work period per day of the employee is no more than six (6) hours, the meal 

period may be waived by mutual consent of both the employer and employee. 

53. During the relevant time period set forth herein, the applicable IWC Wage 

Order and California Labor Code section 512(a) further provide that an employer may not 

require, cause, or permit an employee to work for a work period of more than ten (10) hours 

per day without providing the employee with a second uninterrupted meal period of not less 

than thirty (30) minutes, except that if the total hours worked is no more than twelve (12) 

hours, the second meal period may be waived by mutual consent of the employer and the 

employee only if the first meal period was not waived. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

12 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES 26
EXH. A -12

Case 2:19-cv-08632-CAS-AFM   Document 1   Filed 10/07/19   Page 27 of 97   Page ID #:27



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

9 

10 

II 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

54. As a pattern and practice, during the relevant time period set forth herein, 

Plaintiff and other class members who were scheduled to work for a period of time no longer 

than six (6) hours, and who did not waive their legally-mandated meal periods by mutual 

consent, were required to work for periods longer than five (5) hours without an uninterrupted 

meal period of not less than thirty (30) minutes and/or without a rest period. 

55. As a pattern and practice, during the relevant time period set forth herein, 

Plaintiff and other class members who were scheduled to work for a period of time in excess of 

six (6) hours were required to work for periods longer than five (5) hours without an 

uninterrupted meal period of not less than thirty (30) minutes and/or without a rest period. 

56. As a pattern and practice, during the relevant time period set forth herein, 

Defendants intentionally and willfully required Plaintiff and other class members to work 

during meal periods and failed to compensate Plaintiff and the other class members the full 

meal period premium for work performed during meal periods. 

57. As a pattern and practice, during the relevant time_period set _forth herein,-

Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and other class members the full meal period premium due 

pursuant to California Labor Code section 226.7. 

58. Defendants' conduct violates applicable IWC Wage Order and California Labor 

Code sections 226.7 and 512(a). 

59. Pursuant to the applicable IWC_Wage_Order-and- California-Labor Code-section-

226.7(b), Plaintiff and other class members are entitled to recover from Defendants one 

additional hour of pay at the employee's regular rate of compensation for each work day that 

the meal or rest period is not provided. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of California Labor Code § 226.7) 

(Against GEORGIA-PACIFIC CORRUGATED LLC and DOES 1 through 100) 

60. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 59, and each and every part thereof with the same force and effect as though fully set 

forth herein. 
.• 

61. During the relevant time period set forth herein, the applicable IWC Wage 

Order and California Labor Code section 226.7 were applicable to Plaintiff's and other class 

members' employment by Defendants. 

62. During the relevant time period set forth herein, California Labor Code section 

226.7 provides that no employer shall require an employee to work during any rest period 

mandated by an applicable order of the California IWC. 

63. During the relevant time period set forth herein, the applicable IWC Wage 

Order provides that "[e]very employer shall authorize and permit all employees to take rest 

periods, which insofar as practicable shall be in the middle of each work period" and that the 

"rest period time shall be based on the total hours worked daily at the rate of ten (10) minutes 

net rest time per four (4) hours or major fraction thereof' unless the total daily work time is 

less than three and one-half (3 1/2) hours. 

64. As a pattern and practice, during .the relevant. time period -set-forth- herein; 

Defendants required Plaintiff and other class members to work four (4) or more hours without 

authorizing or permitting a ten (10) minute rest period per each four (4) hour period worked. 

65. As a pattern and practice, during the relevant time period set forth herein, 

Defendants willfully required Plaintiff and other class members to work during rest periods 

and failed to pay Plaintiff and the other class members the full rest period premium for work 

performed during rest periods. 

66. As a pattern and practice, during the relevant time period set forth herein, 

Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and the other class members the full rest period premium due 

pursuant to California Labor Code section 226.7 
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67. Defendants' conduct violates applicable IWC Wage Orders and California 

Labor Code section 226.7. 

68. Pursuant to the applicable IWC Wage Orders and California Labor Code section 

226.7(b), Plaintiff and the other class members are entitled to recover from Defendants one 

additional hour of pay at the employees' regular hourly rate of compensation for each work 

day that the rest period was not provided. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of California Labor Code §§ 201 and 202) 

(Against GEORGIA-PACIFIC CORRUGATED LLC and DOES 1 through 100) 

69. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 68, and each and every part thereof with the same force and effect as though fully set 

forth herein. 

70. During the relevant time period set forth herein, California Labor Code sections 

201 and 202 provide that if an employer discharges an employee, the wages earned and unpaid 

at the time of discharge are due and payable immediately, and if an employee quits his or her 

employment, his or her wages shall become due and payable not later than seventy-two (72) 

hours thereafter, unless the employee has given seventy-two (72) hours notice of his or her 

intention to quit, in which case the employee is entitled to his or her wages at the time of 

quitting. 

71. As a pattern and practice, during the relevant time period set forth herein, 

Defendants intentionally and willfully failed to pay Plaintiff and other class members (but not 

all class members) who are no longer employed by Defendants their wages, earned and unpaid, 

within seventy-two (72) hours of their leaving Defendants' employ. 

72. Defendants' pattern and practice of failing to pay Plaintiff and other class 

members (but not all class members) who are no longer employed by Defendants their wages, 

earned and unpaid, within seventy-two (72) hours of their leaving Defendants' employ, is in 

violation of California Labor Code sections 201 and 202. 

/ / / 
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73. California Labor Code section 203 provides that if an employer willfully fails to 

pay wages owed, in accordance with sections 201 and 202, then the wages of the employee 

shall continue as a penalty from the due date thereof at the same rate until paid or until an 

action is commenced; but the wages shall not continue for more than thirty (30) days. 

74. Plaintiff and other class members are entitled to recover from Defendants the 

statutory penalty wages for each day they were not paid, up to the thirty (30) day maximum as 

provided by Labor Code section 203. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of California Labor Code § 226(a)) 

(Against GEORGIA-PACIFIC CORRUGATED LLC and DOES 1 through 100) 

75. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 74, and each and every part thereof with the same force and effect as though fully set 

forth herein. 

76. During the relevant time period set forth herein, California Labor Code section 

226(a) provides that every employer shall furnish each of his or her employees an accurate 

itemized statement in writing showing (1) gross wages earned, (2) total hours worked by the 

employee, (3) the number of piece-rate units earned and any applicable piece rate if the 

employee is paid on a piece-rate basis, (4) all deductions, provided that all deductions made on 

written orders of the employee may be aggregated and shown.as one. item, (5). net -wages 

earned, (6) the inclusive dates of the period for which the employee is paid, (7) the name of the 

employee and his or her social security number, (8) the name and address of the legal entity 

that is the employer, and (9) all applicable hourly rates in effect during the pay period and the 

corresponding number of hours worked at each hourly rate by the employee. The deductions 

made from payments of wages shall be recorded in ink or other indelible form, properly dated, 

showing the month, day, and year, and a copy of the statement or a record of the deductions 

shall be kept on file by the employer for at least three years at the place of employment or at a 

central location within the State of California. 

/ / / 
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77. As a pattern and practice, Defendants have intentionally and willfully failed to 

provide Plaintiff and other class members (but not all) with complete and accurate wage 

statements. The deficiencies include but are not limited to: the failure to include the total 

number of hours worked by Plaintiff and other class members. 

78. As a result of Defendants' violation of California Labor Code section 226(a), 

Plaintiff and other class members (but not all) have suffered injury and damage to their 

statutorily protected rights. 

79. More specifically, Plaintiff and other class members (but not all) have been 

injured by Defendants' intentional and willful violation of California Labor Code section 

226(a) because they were denied both their legal right to receive, and their protected interest in 

receiving, accurate and itemized wage statements pursuant to California Labor Code section 

226(a). 

80. Plaintiff and other class members (but not all) are entitled to recover from 

Defendants the greater of their actual damages caused by Defendants' failure to comply with 

California Labor Code section 226(a), or an aggregate penalty not exceeding four thousand 

dollars per employee. 

81. Plaintiff and other class members (but not all) are also entitled to injunctive 

relief to ensure compliance with this section, pursuant to California Labor Code section 226(g). 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of California Business & Professions Code §§ 17200, et seq.) 

(Against GEORGIA-PACIFIC CORRUGATED LLC and DOES 1 through 100) 

82. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs I 

through 81, and each and every part thereof with the same force and effect as though fully set 

forth herein. 

83. Defendants' conduct, as alleged herein, has been, and continues to be unfair, 

unlawful and harmful to Plaintiff, other class members, to the general public, and Defendants' 

competitors. Accordingly, Plaintiff seeks to enforce important rights affecting the public 

interest within the meaning of Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5. 

84. Defendants' activities as alleged herein are violations of California law, and 

constitute unlawful business acts and practices in violation of California Business & 

Professions Code section 17200, et seg. 

85. A violation of California Business & Professions Code section 17200, et seg. 

may be predicated on the violation of any state or federal law. In this instant case, Defendants' 

pattern and practice of requiring Plaintiff and other class members work overtime hours 

without paying them proper compensation violate California Labor Code sections 510 and 

1198. Additionally, Defendants' pattern and practice of requiring Plaintiff and other class 

members, to work through their meal and rest periods without paying them proper 

compensation violate California Labor Code sections 226.7 and 512(a). Moreover, Defendants' 

pattern and practice of failing to timely pay wages to Plaintiff and other class members violate 

California Labor Code sections 201 and 202. Defendants also violated California Labor Code 

sections 226(a) and 1198. 

86. As a result of the herein described violations of California law, Defendants 

unlawfully gained an unfair advantage over other businesses. 

87. Plaintiff and other class members have been personally injured by Defendants' 

unlawful business acts and practices as alleged herein, including but not necessarily limited to 

the loss of money and/or property. 
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88. Pursuant to California Business & Professions Code sections 17200, et seq., 

Plaintiff and other class members are entitled to restitution of the wages withheld and retained 

by Defendants during a period that commences four years prior to the filing of this Complaint; 

an award of attorneys' fees pursuant to California Code of Civil procedure section 1021.5 and 

other applicable laws; and an award of costs. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff, individually, and on behalf of other members of the general public similarly 

situated, requests a trial by jury. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of all other members of the general 

public similarly situated, prays for relief and judgment against Defendants, jointly and 

severally, as follows: 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

Class Certification 

1. That this action be certified as a class action; 

2. That Plaintiff be appointed as representative of the Class; 

3. That counsel for Plaintiff be appointed as Class Counsel; and 

4. That Defendants provide to Class Counsel immediately the names and 

most current contact information (address, e-mail and telephone numbers) of all 

class members. 
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As to the First Cause of Action 

5. That the Court declare, adjudge and decree that Defendants violated California 

Labor Code sections 510, 1194, and 1198 and applicable IWC Wage Orders by willfully 

failing to pay all overtime wages due to Plaintiff and the other class members; 

6. For general unpaid wages at overtime wage rates and such general and special 

damages as may be appropriate; 

7. For pre-judgment interest on any unpaid overtime compensation commencing 

from the date such amounts were due; 

8. For reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of suit incurred herein pursuant to 

California Labor Code section 1194; and 

9. For such other and further relief as the court may deem just and proper. 

As to the Second Cause of Action 

10. That the Court declare, adjudge and decree that Defendants violated California 

Labor Code sections 226.7 and 512 and applicable IWC Wage Orders by willfully 

p rovide all meal periods (including second meal periods) to Plaintiff and the other class 

members; 

11. That the Court make an award to Plaintiff and the other class members of one 

(1) hour of pay at each employee's regular rate of compensation for each workday that a meal 

period was not provided; 

12. For all actual, consequential, and incidental losses and damages, according to 

proof; 

13. For premium wages pursuant to California Labor Code section 226.7(b); 

14. For pre judgment interest on any unpaid wages from the date such amounts 

were due; 

15. For reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of suit incurred herein; and 

16. For such other and further relief as the court may deem just and proper. 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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As to the Third Cause of Action 

17. That the Court declare, adjudge and decree that Defendants violated California 

Labor Code section 226.7 and applicable IWC Wage Orders by willfully failing to provide all 

rest periods to Plaintiff and the other class members; 

18. That the Court make an award to Plaintiff and the other class members of one 

(1) hour of pay at each employee's regular rate of compensation for each workday that a rest 

period was not provided; 

19. For all actual, consequential, and incidental losses and damages, according to 

proof; 

20. For premium wages pursuant to California Labor Code section 226.7(b); 

21. For pre-judgment interest on any unpaid wages from the date such amounts 

were due; and 

22. For such other and further relief as the court may deem just and proper. 

As to the Fourth Cause of Action 

23. That the Court declare, adjudge and decree that Defendants violated California 

Labor Code sections 201, 202, and 203 by willfully failing to pay all compensation owed at the 

time of termination of the employment of the other class members no longer employed by 

Defendants; 

24. For all actual, consequential, and incidental losses and damages, according to 

proof; 

25. For statutory wage penalties pursuant to California Labor Code section 203 for 

the other class members who have left Defendants' employ; 

26. For pre-judgment interest on any unpaid compensation from the date such 

amounts were due; and 

27. For such other and further relief as the court may deem just and proper. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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As to the Fifth Cause of Action 

28. That the Court declare, adjudge and decree that Defendants violated the record 

keeping provisions of California Labor Code section 226(a) and applicable IWC Wage Orders , 

as to Plaintiff and other class members, and willfully failed to provide accurate itemized wage 

statements thereto; 

29. For actual, consequential and incidental losses and damages, according to proof; 

30. For statutory penalties pursuant to California Labor Code section 226(e); 

31. For injunctive relief to ensure compliance with this section, pursuant to 

California Labor Code section 226(g); and 

32. For such other and further relief as the court may deem just and proper. 

As to the Sixth Cause of Action 

33. That the Court declare, adjudge and decree that Defendants violated California 

Business and Professions Code sections 17200, et seq. by failing to provide Plaintiff and other 

class members all overtime compensation due to them, failing to provide all meal and rest 

periods to Plaintiff and the other class members, failing to pay at least minimum wages to 

Plaintiff and the other class members, failing to pay Plaintiff's and other class members' wages 

timely as required by California Labor Code section 201, 202. 

34. For restitution of unpaid wages to Plaintiff and other class members and all pre-

judgment interest from the day such amounts were due and payable; — — --

35. For the appointment of a receiver to receive, manage and distribute any and all 

fluids disgorged from Defendants and determined to have been wrongfully acquired by 

Defendants as a result of violation of California Business and Professions Code sections 

17200, et seq.; 

36. For reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of suit incurred herein pursuant to 

California Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5; 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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37. For injunctive relief to ensure compliance with this section, pursuant to 

California Business and Professions Code sections 17200, et seq.; and 

38. For such other and further relief as the court may deem just and proper. 

Dated: September 5, 2019 JUSTICE LAW CORPOR TION 

By: 

Douglas Han 
Shunt Tatavos-Gharajeh 
Daniel J. Park 
Areen Babajanian 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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DEFENDANT GEORGIA-PACIFIC CORRUGATED LLC’S 

ANSWER TO PLAINTIFF JACOB SCHUMACHER’S CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES 40102814_1.docx

Defendant Georgia-Pacific Corrugated LLC (“Defendant”) hereby answers the Class 

Action Complaint for Damages (hereinafter “Complaint”) brought by plaintiff Jacob Schumacher 

(“Plaintiff”) as follows: 

GENERAL DENIAL 

Pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure section 431.30, Defendant denies, generally 

and specifically, each and every allegation contained in Plaintiff’s Complaint, and further denies 

that Plaintiff has been injured in the amount or manner alleged, or in any other manner whatsoever. 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

Additionally, without admitting that Defendant carries the burden of proof as to any of the 

issues raised thereby, Defendant asserts the following separate and affirmative defenses to 

Plaintiff’s Complaint and each purported cause of action, claim, and allegation contained therein: 

FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

1. The claims alleged in the Complaint are barred insofar as the Complaint fails to 

state a valid cause of action against Defendant upon which relief may be granted. 

SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

2. This lawsuit is inappropriate for class treatment, and Plaintiff is barred from 

maintaining a class action, on the following grounds:  (1) joinder of the putative class members is 

not impracticable; (2) there are no relevant questions of fact or law common to all putative class 

members; (3) the claims and factual allegations raised in the Complaint are not “typical” of the 

experiences of the putative class members; (4) Plaintiff and counsel will not fairly and adequately 

represent and protect the interests of the putative class members; (5) relevant facts common to the 

putative class members do not predominate over questions affecting only individual members of 

the putative class; (6) a class action is not superior to other methods available for the fair and 

efficient adjudication of the matters alleged in the Complaint; (7) the putative class, as defined in 

the Complaint, is overbroad, ambiguous, conclusory, imprecise, and lacks the required community 

of interest, and is therefore not readily ascertainable. 

THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

3. Any attempt to require Defendant to locate, identify, or notify absent persons on 
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DEFENDANT GEORGIA-PACIFIC CORRUGATED LLC’S 

ANSWER TO PLAINTIFF JACOB SCHUMACHER’S CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES 40102814_1.docx

whose behalf this action is allegedly prosecuted would violate the Due Process Clause.  

FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

4. The penalties sought by the Complaint are barred because at all relevant times, 

Defendant did not willfully, knowingly, or intentionally fail to comply with any provision of the 

California Labor Code, the California Business and Professions Code, or any other law related to 

the matters alleged in the Complaint, but rather acted in good faith and had reasonable grounds for 

believing that it did not violate those provisions. 

FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

5. The penalties and damages, punitive or otherwise, sought by the Complaint are 

barred insofar as they would be disproportionate to the harm alleged, excessive, and would violate 

Defendant’s Due Process rights. 

SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

6. Defendant is informed and believes, and thereupon alleges, that certain putative 

class members have released the claims alleged in the Complaint in whole or in part, and such 

claims are therefore barred by the doctrine of res judicata.  

SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

7. The claims alleged in the Complaint are barred, in whole or in part, by the 

applicable statute(s) of limitations including, without limitation, Code of Civil Procedure sections 

337, 338, 339, and 340, California Labor Code section 203, and California Business and 

Professions Code section 17208.   

EIGHTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

8. Any recovery of meal period or rest period premium payments is barred because 

Plaintiff and the putative class members were provided, authorized, and permitted to take 

appropriate meal and rest periods, but freely chose to forego or waive such meal or rest periods; 

Defendant did not impede, discourage, or dissuade Plaintiff or the putative class members from 

taking appropriate meal or rest periods; and such premium payments are not considered wages for 

purposes of a California Labor Code section 203 claim. 

/// 
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DEFENDANT GEORGIA-PACIFIC CORRUGATED LLC’S 

ANSWER TO PLAINTIFF JACOB SCHUMACHER’S CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES 40102814_1.docx

NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

9. Any recovery of allegedly unpaid wages is barred because Defendant reasonably 

relied on the accuracy of the time reporting information provided by Plaintiff and the putative class 

members and paid accurate wages for all such time. 

TENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

10. The claims alleged in the Complaint are barred, in whole or in part, to the extent that 

damages, if any, resulted from the acts and/or omissions of Plaintiff and/or the putative class 

members. 

ELEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

11. The claims alleged in the Complaint are barred, in whole or in part, because Plaintiff 

and the putative class members were provided timely, proper, and complete payment of all wages 

due. 

TWELFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

12. The damages alleged by Plaintiff, if any, were not proximately caused by any 

unlawful policy, custom, practice, or procedure promulgated or tolerated by Defendant. 

THIRTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

13. The claims alleged in the Complaint are barred, in whole or in part, by the doctrine 

of avoidable consequences. 

FOURTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

14. Plaintiff is not entitled to liquidated or punitive damages because any alleged acts or 

omissions by Defendant were in good faith, and Defendant had reasonable grounds for believing 

that its acts or omissions, if any, were not a violation of any applicable law. 

FIFTHTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

15. The claims alleged in the Complaint are barred, in whole or in part, on the grounds 

that any alleged violations were de minimis pursuant to Troester v. Starbucks Corp., 5 Cal.5th 829 

(2018) and Defendant complied with its obligation under the California Labor Code and/or wage 

and hour law. 

/// 
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DEFENDANT GEORGIA-PACIFIC CORRUGATED LLC’S 

ANSWER TO PLAINTIFF JACOB SCHUMACHER’S CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES 40102814_1.docx

SIXTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

16. Plaintiff’s alleged damages, injuries, and/or losses were proximately caused by, or 

contributed to, the acts or omissions of others and/or by unavoidable incidents or conditions, 

without fault on the part of Defendant, which acts, omissions, incidents and/or conditions were an 

intervening and superseding cause of the Plaintiff’s alleged damages, injuries and/or losses, if any. 

SEVENTEETH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

17. Should Plaintiff prevail on one or more of her purported causes of action set forth in 

the Complaint against Defendant, Plaintiff’s award is barred, in whole or in part, because 

Defendant is entitled to a set-off against any amounts awarded to Plaintiff equal to the amounts 

Defendant has already paid Plaintiff. 

EIGHTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

18. Plaintiff’s cause of action for violation of California Labor Code section 226 is 

barred, in whole or in part, because Plaintiff and the putative class members lack any injury and 

have suffered no legally cognizable damages. 

NINETEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

19. Plaintiff’s cause of action for waiting time and wage statement penalties under 

California Labor Code sections 203 and 226, and for liquidated damages for failure to pay 

minimum wage, should be denied because a good faith dispute exists as to whether any wages are 

due. 

TWENTIETH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

20. The claims alleged in the Complaint are barred, in whole or in part, to the extent that 

multiple penalties or remedies are sought for the same conduct. 

TWENTY-FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

21. Plaintiff’s Complaint, and each purported cause of action or claim for relief alleged 

therein, fails to state a claim for attorney’s fees against Defendant. 

TWENTY-SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

22. Plaintiff cannot recover “restitution” for violation of California Business and  

/// 
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DEFENDANT GEORGIA-PACIFIC CORRUGATED LLC’S 

ANSWER TO PLAINTIFF JACOB SCHUMACHER’S CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES 40102814_1.docx

Professions Code section 17200 et seq. to the extent that what Plaintiff seeks as “restitution” is a 

disguised and impermissible form of damages. 

RESERVATION OF RIGHTS 

Because Plaintiff’s Complaint is couched in broad, conclusory terms, and Defendant has 

not completed its investigation and discovery regarding the facts and claims asserted by Plaintiff, 

Defendant cannot fully anticipate all defenses that may be applicable to this action.  Accordingly, 

Defendant reserves the right to assert any additional defenses and matters in avoidance that may be 

disclosed during the course of additional investigation and discovery, when and if the same have 

been ascertained. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Defendant prays as follows: 

1. For entry of judgment in favor of Defendant and against Plaintiff on all causes of 

action; 

2. That Plaintiff takes nothing by way of the Complaint; 

3. That all requests for equitable relief of any kind be denied; 

4. That Defendant be awarded costs of suit incurred herein; 

5. That Defendant be awarded reasonable attorneys’ fees according to proof; and 

6. For such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper. 

DATED:  October 7, 2019 OGLETREE, DEAKINS, NASH, SMOAK & 
STEWART, P.C. 

By:   
Evan R. Moses 
Sarah Zenewicz 

Attorneys for Defendant 
GEORGIA-PACIFIC CORRUGATED LLC
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PROOF OF SERVICE 40102814_1.docx

PROOF OF SERVICE 
Jacob Schumacher v. Georgia-Pacific Corrugated LLC 

California Superior Court, County of Los Angeles 

Case No. 19STCV31420 

I am and was at all times herein mentioned over the age of 18 years and not a party to the 

action in which this service is made.  At all times herein mentioned I have been employed in the 

County of San Francisco in the office of a member of the bar of this court at whose direction the 

service was made.  My business address is Steuart Tower, Suite 1300, One Market Plaza, San 

Francisco, California 94105. 

On October 7, 2019, I served the following document(s):  

DEFENDANT GEORGIA-PACIFIC CORRUGATED LLC’S ANSWER TO PLAINTIFF 
JACOB SCHUMACHER’S CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES 

by placing  (the original)  (a true copy thereof) in a sealed envelope addressed to: 

Douglas Han 

Shunt Tatavos-Gharajeh 

Daniel J. Park 

Areen Babajanian 

JUSTICE LAW CORPORATION 

751 North Fair Oaks Avenue, Suite 101 

Pasadena, CA  91103 

Tel: 818.230.7502 

Fax: 818.230.7502 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 

BY MAIL:  I placed the envelope for collection and mailing, following our ordinary 

business practices.  I am readily familiar with the practice of Ogletree, Deakins, Nash, 

Smoak & Stewart, P.C.’s practice for collecting and processing correspondence for mailing.  

On the same day that correspondence is placed for collection and mailing, it is deposited in 

the ordinary course of business with the United States Postal Service, in a sealed envelope 

with postage fully prepaid. 

(State)   I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that 

the above is true and correct. 

Executed on October 7, 2019 at San Francisco, California. 

Nancy Taylor 
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